
FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS 
 

1. The allegations of this Indictment are re-alleged and by this reference fully 

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of 

property in which the defendants, PETER SOTIS and EMILIE VOISSEM, have an interest. 

 2. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 50, United States Code, Section 1705(a), a 

conspiracy to commit such violation, or Title 18, United States Code, Section 554, as alleged in 

this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the United States the following property: 

any merchandise exported or sent from the United States or attempted to be exported or sent from 

the United States contrary to law, or the proceeds or value thereof, and property used to facilitate 

the exporting or sending of such merchandise, the attempted exporting or sending of such 

merchandise, or the receipt, purchase, transportation, concealment, or sale of such merchandise 

prior to exportation, pursuant to Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(d). 

3. The property subject to forfeiture includes: four (4) rEvo III rebreathers that were 

exported or attempted to be exported to Libya on or about August 12, 2016 

.  All pursuant to Title 19, United States Code, Section 1595a(d), and the procedures set 

forth and the procedure set forth in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by 

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 
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